
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD
5 September 2017

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC GROUP will be held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 12 SEPTEMBER 2017 at 2:00 PM OR 
AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD MEETING, 
WHICHEVER IS THE LATER, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director of Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 18 AUGUST 2017 (Pages 1 - 4)

4. ISLANDS (SCOTLAND) BILL CONSULTATION RESPONSE (Pages 5 - 12)
Report by Executive Director of Customer Services

Argyll Islands Strategic Group

Councillor Robin Currie (Chair) Councillor Len Scoullar (Vice Chair)

Shirley MacLeod, Area Governance Manager

Contact: Lynsey Innis, Senior Area Committee Assistant; Tel:  01546 604338 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of MEETING of ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC GROUP held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD 

on FRIDAY, 18 AUGUST 2017 

Present: Councillor Robin Currie (Chair)

Councillor Mary-Jean Devon (by 
Lync)
Councillor Anne Horn
Councillor Sir Jamie McGrigor

Councillor Aileen Morton (by Lync)
Councillor Elaine Robertson

Attending: Shirley MacLeod, Area Governance Manager
Fergus Murray, Head of Economic Development and Strategic Transformation
Antonia Baird, Community Development Officer
Ian Turner, Islands Bill Team, The Scottish Government

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Councillors Julie McKenzie, 
Yvonne McNeilly and Len Scoullar, and on behalf of Pippa Milne, Executive Director 
of Development and Infrastructure Services.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest intimated.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC GROUP 
The group gave consideration to a report outlining the Terms of Reference for the 
work of the group as detailed in the agreement made by Council on 29 June 2017.

Decision:

The group:-

1. agreed the Terms of Reference detailed in the report subject to the inclusion 
of the words “uninhabited islands” at 4.1 and 4.2(1) and 4.2(2) of the report, 
and the removal of the word “communities” at paragraph 4.2(2) of the report;  

2. requested that the Area Governance Manager liaise with the group to identify 
a suitable date in the week commencing Monday 11 September to host the 
next meeting of the group; and 

3. agreed that future meetings of the group would take place on Tuesday 31 
October 2017; Tuesday 9 January 2018 and Tuesday 27 March 2017, 
enabling reporting to the Policy and Resources Committee.

(Ref;  Report by Executive Director of Customer Services, dated 18 August 2017, 
submitted.)

Public Document PackPage 1 Agenda Item 3



Councillor Aileen Morton joined the meeting by lync at 11.02am.  

4. ISLANDS BILL 
The group gave consideration to a presentation from the Community Empowerment 
Division of the Scottish Government, outlining the basis and timescales of the 
Islands Bill, which aims to achieve a sustained focus across Government and the 
wider public sector on improving outcomes for island communities.  Discussion took 
place in respect of the National Islands Plan; the duties in relation to island 
communities; the representation of island communities; greater flexibility in electoral 
ward design for islands; the development in the Scottish Island Marine Development 
area and the parliamentary timetable and process.  

Decision:

The group agreed to note the contents of the presentation.  

The Chair thanked Mr Turner for the information provided.  

(Ref:  Presentation by the Islands Bill Team, The Scottish Government, dated 18 
August 2017, submitted.)

Councillor Morton left the meeting at 11.50am due to technical difficulties.

Councillor Devon left the meeting at 12.05pm.
.

5. UPDATE FROM THE STRATEGIC ISLANDS GROUP MEETING HELD ON 11 
JULY 2017 IN STORNOWAY 
The group gave consideration to a report which provided an update from the meeting 
of the National Islands Strategic Group held in Stornoway, Isle of Lewis on 11 July 
2017.  

Decision:

The group agreed to note the contents of the update from the meeting of the 
National Strategic Group held in Stornoway on 11 July 2017.  

(Ref:  Report by Chief Executive, dated 18 August 2017, submitted.)

6. WORK STRANDS / RESPONSE TO ISLANDS BILL CONSULTATION AND 
ATTENDANCE AT PARLIAMENTARY COMMITTEE 
Discussion was led by the Chair, Councillor Currie who encouraged everyone to 
respond to the online questionnaire at 
www.parlliament.scot/newsandmediacentre/105516.aspx.  

Page 2

http://www.parlliament.scot/newsandmediacentre/105516.aspx


Members noted that discussions were being facilitated with the island communities in 
a bid to gather their views on the Islands Bill on 22 August 2017.  Members also 
noted that a further meeting of the group would take place before attendance at the 
Parliamentary Committee on 20 September 2017 to update in relation to the 
discussions and to finalise the draft response to the Islands Bill consultation. 

The Chair outlined the proposed work strands of the group going forward:-

 Energy – Renewables/Fuel Poverty/De-carbonisation
 Crown Estate
 Environment (Waste; Designations; Crofting; Agriculture & Fisheries)
 Tourism (including Culture)
 Regional Skills (Construction)/FE & HE Provision/Apprenticeships
 Depopulation/Migration
 Education/Health 
 Education/Health (Recruitment)
 EU/BREXIT
 Digital (Mobile/Broadband)
 Housing/Empty Homes Initiatives
 Economy
 Planning
 Transport
 Social Security Reforms

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS 
STRATEGIC GROUP

CUSTOMER SERVICES 12 SEPTEMBER 2017

ISLANDS (SCOTLAND) BILL CONSULTATION RESPONSE

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to ask the Argyll Islands Strategic Group to 
note the detail from the recent consultation exercise facilitated with 15 
island communities, and to agree that this be the Council’s submitted 
response to the consultation on the Bill currently being undertaken by 
Scottish Government.

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS 
STRATEGIC GROUP

CUSTOMER SERVICES 12 SEPTEMBER 2017

ISLANDS (SCOTLAND) BILL CONSULTATION RESPONSE

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 Scottish Government is currently carrying out consultation on the 
provisions within the Islands (Scotland) Bill, and the Council has 
been invited to give evidence to the Rural Economy and Connectivity 
Committee regarding the bill on Wednesday 20th September. 
Facilitated conversations were held with island communities on 22nd 

August 2017 to ask them for their views on the provisions of the 
legislation; a summary of the information gathered is attached to this 
report, and the group is asked to agree that this is the consultation 
response to be submitted, and is the basis of the information to be 
presented to the Holyrood Committee.

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 That the group agree the consultation response relating to the 
provisions within the Islands (Scotland) Bill attached as Appendix 1 
to this report, and agree that the detail contained within Appendix 1 
form the basis of the evidence presented by the Council to the Rural 
Economy and Connectivity Committee on 20th September 2017.

4.0 DETAIL

4.1 The Islands (Scotland) Bill was introduced by the Cabinet 
Secretary for Rural Economy and Connectivity Committee on 9 
June 2017. It contains provisions for a national islands plan; to 
impose duties in relation to island communities on certain public 
authorities; to make provision about the electoral representation of 
island communities, and to establish a licensing scheme in respect 
of marine developments adjacent to islands.

4.2 Scottish Parliament is currently carrying out consultation on the 
draft bill, with responses requested to be submitted by 25th 

September. In recognising that the Argyll Islands Strategic Group 
would be submitting a response to this consultation at the meeting

Page 6



held on 18th August it was agreed that a series of facilitated 
discussions would be held with island communities to obtain their 
viewpoints on the terms of the draft legislation. These discussions 
took place by video and telephone conferences on Tuesday 22nd 

August, and a summary of the feedback obtained is attached at 
Appendix 1 of this report. Eleven participants took part over 5 
sessions, representing 7 of Argyll and Bute’s inhabited islands.

4.3 The group is asked to note the content of the responses made by 
island representatives during the conference discussions, and to 
agree that this detail is submitted by the group to the Scottish 
Parliament consultation process. In addition, the group is asked to 
agree that this information is passed to the Council representative 
who will be giving evidence to the Rural Economy and Connectivity 
Committee on 20th September, in order that these views are fully 
relayed as part of the process of information gathering currently 
being carried out on the terms of this legislation.

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 This report provides members with a draft response to the 
consultation being carried out by Scottish Government in respect of 
the provisions within the Islands (Scotland) Bill, Members are asked 
to consider the detail and agree the response.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy – None at this stage, the final legislation may require the 
Council to consider its policy framework as it impacts on island 
communities

6.2 Financial – None in regards the consultation, resource may be 
required to carry out any work required by the final legislation.

6.3 Legal – None
6.4 HR – None
6.5 Equalities – the terms of the proposed legislation aim to remove 

any inequalities experienced by citizens who live on islands.
6.6 Risk – None
6.7 Customer Service – None

Executive Director of Customer Services 
Policy Lead – Councillor Robin Currie 
29th August 2017

For further information contact: Shirley MacLeod, Area Governance Manager, 22 
Hill Street, Dunoon (Tel no. 01369 707134)

Page 7



APPENDIX 1

Islands (Scotland) Bill Discussion, 22 August 2017

PART TWO – National Islands Plan

1. T
S

he Bill creates a duty to publish a National Islands Plan and lay it before the 
cottish Parliament.

(a) What are your views on this provision?
Each of the groups indicated agreement/approval for the creation of a National 
Islands Plan, and there was universal agreement that this should then lead to 
the creation of an Argyll and Bute Islands Plan as a realistic method of helping 
island communities overcome the challenges they face.

(b) To what extent will this enable island communities in Argyll and Bute to 
address their particular issues?
It was agreed that a National Plan would safeguard services (education, health, 
social work etc) to ensure they retain parity with services provided to mainland 
communities and look to reduce some of the disadvantages currently 
experienced by island residents. It was also felt that a National Plan would 
require the Scottish Parliament to consider and address issues for islands as 
whole and not just in part and this was welcomed.

(c) Will it make the government and the other relevant authorities more 
accountable to islands communities? How?
Providing the plan is detailed and, importantly resourced, the expectation is  
that it will, by way of the suggested annual reporting mechanism, make the 
government more accountable to island communities, but this will be  
dependent on those communities being involved in developing the plan to 
ensure its actual relevance to the communities it is supposed to be for. In terms 
of local service providers the feeling was that in recognising that whilst many 
island issues are shared there are many issues which are unique to specific 
islands that hold just a much significance, more local Islands Plans (Argyll and 
Bute level at a minimal) would improve accountability for local service delivery, 
particularly if targets for key areas of delivery are included.

(d) Is 5 years too long or about right for the first agreed Plan to lie (it will be 
reported on each year)
Agreed that 5 years was just about right.

(e) Who else should be involved in preparing the plan?
All public service agencies, and island residents should be able to have strong 
and effective input into the development process.

(f) Should the plan have local elements or be one big national plan?
There was strong support for an Argyll and Bute Plan as a living document 
which replicates themes in the National Plan but provides support/solutions 
specific to local islands. There was also discussions about the potential for the 
Argyll and Bute plan to be further split into plans for individual islands or 
clusters of islands in recognition of individual issues, and recognition that this 
work could pull together some of the Community Action Plans which have been 
developed by Community Trusts etc, and as part of the development of Local 
Action Plans by the Community Planning Partnership. There was strong

Page 8



support from Islay Community Council representatives for individual islands 
plans to be developed.

PART 3: DUTIES IN RELATION TO ISLAND COMMUNITIES:  (or “Island proofing”)

2. The Bill will require Scottish Ministers and certain Scottish public authorities, to 
prepare island communities impact assessments, when they are preparing a new 
or revised policy, strategy or service especially where that is LIKELY TO HAVE A 
SIGNIFICANTLY DIFFERENT EFFECT ON ISLAND COMMUNITIES COMPARED 
TO OTHER COMMUNITIES (INCLUDING OTHER ISLANDS).

(a) Do you agree with this provision?
Broadly, all participants agreed with this provision, which should help to ensure 
greater parity of service, and was seen to be potentially most effective if 
service providers were required to carry out impact assessment before all 
service changes, highlighted examples all related to health where NHS has 
redesigned specific services ( urology in Oban etc) which has resulted in all 
appointments now being in Paisley, the effect of which is that many patients 
simply no longer attend, with resulting deterioration of their long standing 
conditions and greater pressure then being put on local acute services. In 
carrying out the island proofing exercise it is important that services should be 
safe, sustainable, and accessible.

(b) How do you think it should work in practice?
All public bodies should be required to carry out a specific Island Impact 
Assessment as part of their policy development framework and this should be 
extended to cover any proposed changes to service delivery mechanisms.
Island communities should be provided with reassurance that the needs of their 
specific community has been taken into consideration at all times, though it  
was recognised that where impact (particularity negative impact) is identified it 
may be the case that mitigation is put in place and that the solution would not 
always be equality. The idea of diversity in service delivery is not always a 
weakness, and marrying different views together can be done with an outcomes 
focus. It was felt strongly that impact assessments must be               
consultative and have input from groups on the islands themselves to facilitate 
local empowerment and ensure best use of limited resources.

(c) How would you decide that something might have a “significant effect” and 
what would you expect to be done about it?
Significant impact would have to be detailed on a statistical basis, and there 
could then be scope for provision within legislation that if the significant effect 
reached a particular point on a scale (e.g. 50% of service recipients on an 
island would be negatively impacted), there could be a requirement to tailor 
services to avoid this.  Islanders do get most of the services, but often 
experience a lack of choices within those services.

(d) What are the issues that impact the unique heritage and character of your 
island(s)?
Transportation, accessibility
The islanders value their heritage: Islay in particular were keen to see its 
preservation. They also wished to remind the Strategy Group that islands can 
produce innovation too.

Page 9



(e) What other benefits might “island proofing” bring?
Responses included that plans and policies would become much more 
transparent and would bring a tailored approach to service development on 
islands, it should also improve joint working and give cross sector agencies a 
better understanding of island issues. Effective island proofing could also result 
in improved joint working across agencies, leading to improved sustainability in 
the longer term through more efficient use of resources with resulting economic 
benefits for public sector organisations and for island communities.
The understanding that public bodies would be expected to report on their 
island impact assessments as part of their annual reporting processes would 
ensure that island proofing was carried out routinely and in accordance with the 
detail contained within the Bill.

PART 4 – REPRESENTATION OF ISLAND COMMUNITIES:

3. The Bill proposes to make an exception to the rules for Local Government electoral 
wards to allow areas with inhabited islands to return 1 or 2 members (instead of the 
usual 3 or 4).

(a) What are your views on this proposal?
There were mixed views on this proposal, with some participants feeling that it 
would be positive, however during the course of the discussion the viewpoint 
became almost universally less enthusiastic. Jura Development Trust felt 
strongly that having elected representatives covering communities with less 
than 2000 would be beneficial and would give those communities more say 
over service development and delivery. The feeling overwhelmingly was that 
island communities need strong representation, and that, generally, 
representatives who live on islands have a better understanding of island 
issues due to their experience of “living it”. It was recognised that current 
representatives do a good job in representing those views, though Islay 
Community Council in particular felt that the views of Islay could become lost 
when they were considered as part of wider island groupings, and they felt 
strongly that only by having authorities focused only on Islay could the specific 
issues which they face be realistically dealt with.   One participant said that it 
was often advantageous to have a representative who covered both a 
mainland and an islands area as it could “smooth” friction between islands and 
mainlands communities.

More generally, it was noted that in the current Council make up there are 14 
elected Members who represent island Communities ( 3 Members for  Kintyre 
and the Islands, 4 for Oban South and the isles, 4 for Oban North and Lorn 
and 3 for Bute),and further that in the event of moving to island only wards this 
could reduce to 7 or 8 members ( on the basis of 2 for Islay/Jura /Colonsay, 2 
for Mull/Coll and Tiree, 1 for the remaining Atlantic islands and 3 for Bute ) and 
that this would in fact significantly reduced the number of members 
representing island views, albeit that  those members would have no 
representational duties for mainland communities and therefore potentially 
have increased capacity to deal with island matters.

It was further noted that to totally ensure island representation it would be 
necessary to make provision for island members/candidates to have to 
demonstrate a direct link to the islands in the ward, rather than a wider link 
with the local authority area.

Page 10



(b) Will it allow the distinct interests of island communities to be represented at 
Council discussions?
It was felt that having members focusing only on island matters would give 
direct voice to island issues but that within the political make-up of the Council 
where matters are often decided on a majority basis the reduced number of 
members representing islands could result in some decisions being lost on a 
purely political basis, which would be counter-productive to the spirit of the Bill.

PART 5- DEVELOPMENT IN THE SCOTTISH ISLAND MARINE AREA:

4. The Bill will provide a regulation-making power for the Scottish Ministers to create a 
marine licensing scheme for coastal waters. Do you agree with this power? Do you 
have any comments on how it should be used?

(a) What advantages might that bring? For whom?
There was general disappointment with the proposals contained within this 
section of the draft bill, participants noting that it brings limited opportunity for 
island communities, and that the things which are important to islanders have 
not been included. There was also a feeling that the proposals could bring 
about another tier of bureaucracy and actually give islanders more red tape to 
deal with, which would be singularly unhelpful and actually disadvantage them 
over mainland communities! The Lorn Islands Partnership were generally more 
enthusiastic about this section than other participants, and felt there is more to 
be welcoming of than concerned about, but did note their concerns that the 
provisions could create inequalities between islands which do not exist at 
present.  Jura Development Trust felt that the Marine Licensing Scheme and 
the Crown Estates should be more connected to make it easier for 
communities to determine the level of use and care needed for their own 
assets. Participants from Islay were concerned that the provisions of the bill 
would actually provide more regulating powers to Edinburgh which they were 
vehemently against, they felt the proposals don’t go nearly far enough and that 
islands should be able to have absolute autonomy and control over 
development in their area, including fish farm development. Overall the feeling 
was that this section of the bill has not given any real powers to islanders and 
was disappointing.

(b) What disadvantages might that bring? For whom?
There were no specific disadvantages highlighted during the discussion, but a 
general consensus that the provisions could lead to greater potentials for 
inequalities between islands and mainland communities , particularly some of 
Argyll and Bute’s remote and rural communities who often face similar 
challenges to islands; if specific powers were put in place through this section 
of the bill that could lead to island communities having opportunity which would 
not be available to those mainland areas that could create inequalities which 
do not currently exist.

FINALLY-

5. Does the Bill achieve its aims and are you in favour overall?

(a) Is there anything else that you feel should be included or excluded from the 
Bill?
There was a general feeling that the terms of the Bill are reasonable, but that 
the detail to be included in the National Islands Plan will be critical to the 
success of this work. It is essential that island communities, and their

Page 11



representatives, are given the opportunity to shape and inform the Islands 
Plan, in order that it is truly representative of the issues which need to be 
addressed. There was strong support for each islands authority (or authorities 
with islands) to be resourced to develop and deliver its own individual Islands 
Plan, and that further devolution to create plans for individual islands, linking to 
existing processes, community action plans and local action plans for 
Community Planning Partnerships should be in place.

There was universal emphasis on the need for young people to be proactively 
included in the process of developing plans and processes to ensure the long 
term sustainability of island committees, and a feeling that this age group 
should have been actively targeted as part of the current consultation process.

Islay Community Council proposed that in order to ensure the provisions of the 
Bill are actually delivered an Islands Ombudsman should be put in place, 
otherwise the legislation is toothless. Similarly, it is important that for each area 
there should be a person identified as responsible for delivery of the islands 
Plan(s) to ensure delivery of actions.

6. Do you have any comments on the bill in relation to human rights or equalities?

(a) Will this bill have the same effects for Argyll & Bute Council as it does for the 
western and northern isles?
There was general consensus that the Bill has been drafted specifically with 
the western and northern isles in mind, and that Argyll and Bute has been 
added at a later date. The feeling was that the challenges which Argyll and 
Bute face in terms of both islands and remote and rural communities had not 
been particularly thought through in the drafting of the bill. In regards the 
provision for protection of the constituency of Na h-Eileanan an Iar one 
participant felt strongly that the same protection should be applied to the Argyll 
and Bute constituency.

(b) Will it create different opportunities/ disadvantages for some parts of Argyll & 
Bute Council compared to other parts?
There was strong feeling that while many of the provisions contained within the 
bill could provide greater support and understanding for island communities it 
would be important to ensure that in providing that disadvantage for other 
communities did not occur, and that the need for island proofing in particular 
could cause difficulties in an authority such as Argyll and Bute with residents 
on islands but also in remote and rural mainland areas, and in larger towns, 
some of which are relatively close to the central belt.

Page 12


	Agenda
	3 Minute of Previous Meeting held on 18 August 2017
	Minutes

	4 Islands (Scotland) Bill Consultation Response

